IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

S.C. FILE NO: 63,150

EDWARD CERRITO and JOAN R. CERRITO,

Petitioners,

vs.

JACQUELINE R. KOVITCH, LOUIS KOVITCH and ED-JO CORP. OF FLORIDA, INC., a Florida corporation,

Respondents.



INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONERS

KENNEY, BOSWELL & KAUFMAN Attorneys for Petitioners 213 Southern Boulevard West Palm Beach, FL 33405 Tele: 305-833-8773

HARVEY KAUFMAN, ESQ.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises out of an action for foreclosure of a mortgage on real property. The Petitioners/Defendants, EDWARD CERRITO and JOAN R. CERRITO (hereinafter the "CERRITOS"), were the mortgagors. The Respondent/Plaintiff, JACQUELINE KOVITCH, was the mortgagee. The Respondent/Counter-defendant, LOUIS KOVITCH, is the husband of JACQUELINE KOVITCH. The mortgaged property was a home owned by the Petitioners. The mortgage secured a note issued by Appellee/Defendant, ED-JO CORP. OF FLORIDA, INC. This note was endorsed by the CERRITOS. When ED-JO CORP. OF FLORIDA, INC. and the CERRITOS defaulted on the subject note, JACQUELINE KOVITCH filed suit to foreclose the mortgage on August 2, 1979, in the Circuit Court In and For Broward County, Florida (R-321). For purposes of identification, the Record on Appeal will be referred to as (R-).

On October 26, 1979, the CERRITOS filed an Answer, Affirmative Defenses, and Counterclaim based on usury (R-331). ED-JO CORP. OF FLORIDA, INC. also filed an Answer, Affirmative Defenses, and Counterclaim (R-337). On November 30, 1979, JACQUELINE KOVITCH filed her Notice for Jury Trial (R-361) and on December 5, 1979, the trial court entered an Order Setting Trial by Jury (R-362). Following the granting of a continuance, the CERRITOS filed a Demand for Jury Trial on March 14, 1980 (R-379). JACQUELINE KOVITCH moved to strike the Demand for Jury Trial on March 21, 1980 (R-381).

The trial court granted JACQUELINE KOVITCH'S Motion to Strike the CERRITOS demand for jury trial by an Order dated April 14, 1980(R-382). On May 12, 1980 the CERRITOS filed an Interlocutory Appeal from the aforementioned Order (Case #80-847, District Court of Appeal, State of Florida, Fourth District). On October 8, 1980, the Fourth District Court of Appeal determined that the April 14, 1980 Order was not one of those non-final orders

from which an interlocutory appeal is authorized, and therefore dismissed the appeal. Thereafter, the CERRITOS petitioned the Supreme Court for review of this Court's October 8, 1980 Order and on March 6, 1981, the Petition for Review was denied (Case #59,929, In the Supreme Court, State of Florida).

Meanwhile, the matter was litigated in the lower court. On May 21, 1980, JACQUELINE KOVITCH, filed her Motion to Strike Claim for Compensatory and Punitive Damages (R-384). On February 13, 1981, JACQUELINE KOVITCH, filed a Notice for Non-Jury Trial (R-390). On February 20, 1981, the lower court entered an Order Setting Non-Jury Trial (R-392). On February 24, 1981, the CERRITOS filed their Motion in Opposition to Notice for Trial (R-394). motion was never expressly ruled upon by the lower court. On May 1, 1981, the lower court ruled upon the Motion to Strike, etc. dated May 21, 1980 and entered an Order Striking the CERRITOS' Claim for Compensatory and Punitive Damages (R-404). On June 15, 1981, with leave of the lower court, the CERRITOS filed a Third Party Counterclaim against LOUIS KOVITCH (R-405) as well as Amended Affirmative Defenses (R-407). On June 29, 1981, the CERRITOS filed their Demand For Jury Trial on the issues contained in the third-party counterclaim (R-410). On July 6, 1981, LOUIS KOVITCH filed his Answer to Third-Party Counterclaim (R-411). On July 14, 1981 the CERRITOS' demand for jury trial was stricken. (R-558).

On July 22, 1981 the action was tried and on August 3, 1981, the lower court entered a Final Judgment of Foreclosure in favor of JACQUELINE KOVITCH. This judgment also dismissed the CERRITOS' Counterclaim with prejudice. The CERRITOS then filed an appeal with the Fourth District Court of Appeal which was directed to the April 14, 1980 Order Striking the CERRITOS' Demand for a Jury Trial (R-382), the July 14, 1981 Order Striking the CERRITOS' Demand for Jury Trial, and the August 3, 1981 Final Judgment of Foreclosure

(R-762). On December 29, 1982, the Fourth District Court of Appeal rendered an opinion which affirmed the final judgment of the trial court in all respects. The CERRITOS are before this court by reason of constitutional certiorari, (SEE Petitioners' Brief on Jurisdiction), and this Court has accepted jurisdiction.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On May 11, 1977, Appellant, EDWARD CERRITO, executed Articles of Incorporaton (R-48) for ED-JO CORP. OF FLORIDA, INC. (hereinafter "ED-JO"). Those Articles were filed on June 8, 1977 and a charter was issued on June 10, 1977 (R-817). EDWARD CERRITO, the only incorporator of ED-JO, remained the sole board of director and resident agent. ED-JO never conducted business (R-293) and was involuntarily dissolved on December 5, 1978 (R-283).

A conflict of evidence existed concerning EDWARD CERRITO'S motivation for forming ED-JO. EDWARD CERRITO testified that Frank Scaltrito advised him to form the corporation in early 1977 (R-57). Mr. Scaltrito was the president of Secured Investment Mortgage Co., a mortgage brokerage company (R-86). He testified that ED-JO was formed before he ever met EDWARD or JOAN R. CERRITO (R-87). In any event, at some point, the CERRITOS did contact Frank Scaltrito, and they gave him relevant information concerning their financial status (R-88). Quite briefly, the CERRITOS were in need of money (R-63). EDWARD CERRITO had gone bankrupt in 1975 (R-255). He was once again having a difficult time meeting his financial obligations. The CERRITOS' primary asset was their home (R-89), with a current first mortgage, and a past due second mortgage (on extension) (R-64). In view of their credit history, the CERRITOS were advised that it was unlikely that they would obtain a loan from an institutional lender (R-91). Hence, Mr. Scaltrito recommended private lenders.

After speaking with the CERRITOS, Mr. Scaltrito contacted several potential investors (R-91), including LOUIS KOVITCH, husband of Appellee/Plaintiff (R-95), JACQUELINE KOVITCH. Mr. Scaltrito had acted as mortgage broker for Louis Kovitch on a prior, unrelated investment. This prior association occured in December, 1976 (R-96). When Mr. Scaltrito contacted LOUIS KOVITCH concerning the CERRITOS, Mr. KOVITCH expressed interest in

the investment opportunity. His wife, the Appellee, had just inherited a substantial sum of money (R-166), and they were looking for a profitable investment. Mr. KOVITCH testified that he found the CERRITO investment attractive because the loan would be well secured by the substantial equity the CERRITOS held (R-180). He further testified that the investment was always presented to him as a loan to a corporate borrower with an annual interst rate of 15% (R-181). He also testified that he might not have recommended the investment if it earned only 10% (R-194).

On August 10, 1977, Scaltrito wrote to the CERRITOS, informing them of KOVITCHS' involvement and outlining the steps to be followed in processing their loan (R-821). Shortly thereafter, the CERRITOS executed a Loan Application - Brokerage Agreement (R-98). This document (R-822) describes a \$25,000.00 loan, payable in two years, with monthly interest only payments in the amount of \$208.33. (Although the agreement states the interest rate as 15%, the amount of \$208.33 reflects a 10% interest rate.) The agreement states that "this loan is to pay the debts of the subject corporation". The agreement acknowledges two prior mortgages. The first mortgage was to First Federal of Broward (approx. The second mortgage was to Jack and Miriam Rubenstein \$34,000.00). A Mortgage Loan Application (R-820) was also signed by the (\$15,000.00). CERRITOS (no reference is made to a corporation). This sets forth the estimated (maximum) costs, payable out of the loan proceeds. Included is an "estimated" attorney's fee of \$150.00. Also included is acknowledgment of a \$200.00 deposit. It is also noted that a \$15.00 charge would be made for a credit report, however, the credit report was never ordered (R-487) (Frank Scaltrito Deposition).

On or about August 12, 1977 Mr. Scaltrito contacted Harry Tempkins, the attorney for JACQUELINE KOVITCH (R-836). Mr. Scaltrito advised Mr. Tempkins that the borrowers were anxious for the funds and that a closing should be

scheduled as soon after the receipt of the title abstract as possible. On August 15, 1977 Mr. Scaltrito sent Mr. Tempkins a previously requested estoppel letter acknowledging the status of the mortgage to the Rubensteins (R-837).

During this period, the KOVITCHS visited the CERRITOS for the purpose of inspecting the property (R-185). At that time, some discussions took place regarding building plans, however, there was a conflict of testimony regarding whether a particular project was identified as the use for which the loan proceeds were being sought (R-71) (R-174).

Also during this period, Mr. Tempkins received an estoppel letter from the attorney representing Jack and Miriam Rubenstein (R-141). This letter was sent to Mr. Tempkins by Mr. Scaltrito (R-141).

On August 24, 1977, the closing on the subject transaction took place in Harry Tempkin's law office. The CERRITOS, Mr. Scaltrito, Jack Rubenstein, Miriam Rubenstein, and Mr. Tempkins attended (R-235). The CERRITOS executed several documents on that day including a Closing Statement, a note, a mortgage, and an affidavit.

The Closing Statement set forth various deductions from the loan proceeds. It was signed by EDWARD CERRITO as President of ED-JO, and additionally it was signed by JOAN R. CERRITO (R-829). The note was signed on its face in similar fashion, however, EDWARD and JOAN R. CERRITO also endorsed the note on its reverse side (R-250). The mortgage was signed by EDWARD CERRITO and JOAN R. CERRITO and incorporated the aforementioned note (R-824). The affidavit was prepared by Mr. Tempkins, signed by the CERRITOS, and provided that the loan was being made to the corporation and that the CERRITOS home was additional security (R-828).

On the same date (at the closing) two satisfactions of mortgage were executed by Jack and Miriam Rubenstein. These satisfactions were prepared and

notarized by Mr. Tempkins. The first released a mortgage of \$10,000.00 dating back to January 19, 1972 and is not relevant to the subject transaction (R-839). The second released the Rubenstein mortgage of \$15,000.00 which was in effect at the time of the closing (R-838).

At the closing, the CERRITOS received a check payable to them personally for \$15,157.80 (\$15,000.00 plus accrued interest to date of closing as per the estoppel information supplied by Mr. Scaltrito) and a check payable to them personally for \$7,376.20 (R-232), both written out of Harry Tempkins' Trust Account. Remaining amounts were paid to Scaltrito (\$1,938.50) (R-150) and Tempkins as commissions, fees, or costs (R-232). The CERRITOS immediately endorsed the check for \$15,157.80 over to the Rubensteins and the Rubensteins then gave Mr. Tempkins the above referenced satisfactions (R-267). The CERRITOS retained the check for \$7,376.20 (R-267). They received no credit for the \$200.00 deposit referred to in the Mortgage Loan Application and Mr. Scaltrito's letter of August 10, 1979 (R-821). They paid an attorney's fee well in excess of the \$150.00 fee referred to in that same Mortgage Loan Application. In fact, the fee charged on the application excluded the amount actually charged.

Following the closing, payments were made throughout the term of the note. Payments were made by cash or money order (R-268). The notations "second mortgage interest payment" and "purchased by Mr. & Mrs. Ed Cerrito" were usually included in the money orders and receipts (R-854). It is the KOVITCHS' position that these notations were made by the CERRITOS (R-198). When the final interest payment and balance came due on July 23, 1979, the CERRITOS went into default (R-177). The CERRITOS requested an extension, however, the KOVITCHS declined to extend the loan (R-177).

ARGUMENT

INTRODUCTION

The CERRITOS pose four independent grounds for reversal. First, that the lower court erred in striking the CERRITOS' demand for a jury trial. Second, that foreclosure of a mortgage is an equitable remedy which should have been denied on equitable grounds, including, usury in the underlying promissory note. Third, that the CERRITOS were entitled to a credit for all interest paid in excess of the statutory maximum. With respect to the latter two arguments, Section 687.03 Fla. Stat. (1977) read in pertinent part:

"It shall be usury and unlawful for any person or for any agent, office or other representative of any person, to reserve, charge or take for any loan, or for any advance of money, or for forbearance to enforce the collection of any sum of money, except upon an obligation of a corporation, a rate of interest greater than 10 percent per annum, either directly or indirectly, by way of commission for advances, discounts, exchange, or by any contract, contrivance or device whatever, whereby the debtor is required or obligated to pay a sum of money greater than the actual principal sum received, together with interest at the rate of 10 percent. Such transactions with a corporations shall, whereby the corporation pays interest, be usury and unlawful if for a rate of interest greater than 15 percent per annum . . .".

Lastly, it is the CERRITOS' position that this action was prematurely tried.

I. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN STRIKING THE CERRITOS' DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL ON ISSUES CONTAINED IN THE CERRITOS' AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES AND COUNTERCLAIM OF USURY.

In striking the CERRITOS' Demand for Jury Trial on issues contained in their affirmative defenses and counterclaim of usury, the court overlooked an established principle of both the state and federal Jurisprudence.

The leading Florida case is <u>Smith v. Barnett Bank of Murray Hill</u>, 350 So. 2d 358 (1st DCA, 1977) wherein the situation was identical to the one found in the instant case. The First Dictrict Court of Appeal decided that a jury trial was appropriate using the following two-part analysis:

- 1. Article I, Section 22, Florida Constitution provides for a jury trial for cases in which a jury trial was traditionally affored at common law.
- 2. Although the right of action afforded by Fla. Stat. 687.04, per se, did not exist at common law, an action or recovery of money as damages was among those types of action in which the common law permitted trial by jury.

Smith v. Barnett Bank, supra, at P. 351.

A close reading of the opinion of the Fourth District Court of Appeal in the instant case indicates that the District Court had no quarrel with the first prong of the Smith analysis. Clearly, the disagreement arises in defining how similar a statutory cause of action needs to be to its common law counterpart before it can be said that it is a "cause of action which was recognized by the common law." Under the analysis set forth by the First District Court of Appeal in the Smith case, any cause of action wherein a Plaintiff claims money damages is sufficiently similar to a common law action so as to afford the parties a jury trial. The Fourth District Court of Appeal would impose a much stricter test and would require that the statutory cause of action be not simply for money damages, but rather for compensatory money damages. The Fourth District Court of Appeal thus reasons that because Fla. Stat. 687.04 limits a Plaintiff's

damages to double the interest paid (plus attorney's fees) as opposed to full compensatory damages, no right to a jury trial has been preserved.

Such reasoning opens the door for substantial reduction in the scope of trial by jury. In this regard, the Court in Smith pointed out as follows:

It is insignificant to the determination of ... (the) ... right to trial by jury that the right of action they assert is created by statute rather than by common law. If the rule was otherwise, claims for money damages based on modern legislation would be subject to denial of a jury trial, and the right to jury trial would shrink as time and legislation change the citizen's rights of redress and access to the Courts.

Smith v. Barnett Bank, supra at P. 351.

Importantly, neither the Fourth District Court of Appeal nor the Respondent's have cited a case which requires a litigant in a statutory cause of action to show that the monetary damages he claims are compensatory in nature, in order to be afforded a trial by jury.

On the contrary, there are a long line of Federal cases which specifically support the notion that in a statutory cause of action for money damages (whether compensatory or not) the right to trial by jury is present. These case provide valuable insights into the development of the right by trial under modern jurisprudence. The starting point, of course, is the Seventh Amendment, Constitution of the United States. It provides, in pertinent part:

"In suits at common law, where the value in controversy shall exceed twenty dollars, the right of trial by jury shall be preserved and no fact tried by a jury, shall be otherwise reexamined in any Court of the United States than according to the rules of common law."

In defining the term "in suits at common law", the Federal Courts have faced the very same issue before this Court. A landmark case is Ross v. Bernhard, 396 U.S. 531 (S.C. 1970) wherein the Supreme Court applied a three-part test, to-wit; 1) whether the issue at bar was "legal" (hence triable by jury) rather than equitable under pre-merger custom, 2) whether the remedy sought

is legal, not equitable, and 3) whether the remedy is triable to a jury given their practical abilities.

With regard to the first criteria, at least two circuit courts have held that an action to recover taxes was one recognized at common law because it is an action on a debt, a legal cause of action for which a jury trial was appropriate.

Damsky v. Zavatt, 289 F. 2d 46 (2nd Cir., 1961); Farmers-Peoples Bank v. U.S., 477 F. 2d 752 (6th Cir., 1973). Simply because a tax arises out of statute and that statue sets forth how the tax is t be determined does not foreclose the possibility of trial by jury. On the basis of this analysis it would appear that the applicable portion of F.S.A. 687.04 would meet the requirement that legal rights are being enforced.

With regard to the second requirement, it would appear that where the statute provides for the recoverey of a money judgment, in personam, there is little problem in classifying the remedy as legal. See Farmers-People Bank v. U.S., supra, at P. 757.

With regard to the third requirement, clearly the application of F.S. 687.04 is not beyond the comprehension of a lay jury. This is especially so in view of the fact that the question of usury involves a determination of intent. Dixon v. Sharp, 276 So. 2d 817 (S.C., 1973); Atwood v. Fisher, 330 So. 2d 62 (3rd DCA, 1976).

Beyond the application of the three-part Ross test, various Federal courts have pointed to other considerations which when applied to the instant situation tend to show that a jury trial is appropriate in action under F.S. 687.04. In Pernell v. Southall Realty, 416 U.S. 363 (S.C., 1974) the Supreme Court held that a jury trial was appropriate in action under a District of Columbia eviction statute. In applying the Ross test, the Court pointed out that the landlord had failed to provide any support for the notion that the eviction statute remotely

resembled an equitable cause of action. By analogy, neither the KOVITCHES nor the Fourth District Court of Appeal has cited any equitable action which resembled F.S.A. 687.04.

The Court in <u>Pernell</u> also went on to point out that notwithstanding the landlord's understandable desire to handle evictions in a summary manner, such a goal was not inconsistent with trial by jury. <u>Pernell v. Southall</u>, supra, at P. 1734. Clearly, procedures could be adapted to afford a litigant a speedy jury trial. That such procedures do, or do not exist, is not in and of itself, a sufficient justification to withhold trial by jury.

Relatedly, the Court in <u>Pernell</u> noted that the District of Columbia's eviction statute provided that an eviction suit should be brought "as an ordinary civil action". <u>Pernell v. Southall</u>, supra, at P. 383. From this language the Court could not find a legislative attempt to preclude a jury trial. By analogy, F.S.A. 687.04 specifically provides that an action under may be brought "in any court of competent jurisdicton". Surely, had the Florida Legislature contemplated only non-jurfy actions, the language used would have been more explicit to this effect.

Still other Federal Courts have held that in civil actions to recover statutory penalties, a jury trial may be appropriate, even though the statute is silent as to a jury trial. Atchison, Topeka & Santa Fe Railway v. U.S., 178 F. 12 (8th Cir., 1910); Connolly v. U.S., 149 F. 2d 666 (9th Cir., 1945). Thus, the fact the F.S. 687.04 does not specifically indicate a jury trial is appropriate by no means determinative. On the contrary, the lesson of the Federal cases appear to be that all doubts as to the right to trial by jury should be resolved in favor of permitting trial by jury. See also NSC Inter. Corp. v. Ryan, 531 F. Supp 362 (N.D. Ill., 1981) ("the statutory cause of action provides no indication that relief

sought is equitable, which is yet another factor indicating that the Seventh Amendment applies to the Statutes".)

Significantly, the "lessons" of the Federal Courts are found in the case of Hollywood, Inc. v. City of Hollywood, 32! So. 2d 65, 71 (S.C., 1975) wherein this Court held that:

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