IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

S.C. FILE NO.: 63,150

EDWARD CERRITO and JOAN R. CERRITO,

Petitioner,

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Respondent, JACQUELINE R. KOVITCH, accepts the statement of the case and the statement of the facts as set forth in the Petitioners' Initial Brief.

ISSUES FOR DETERMINATION

- I. THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ERR IN STRIKING THE PETITIONERS'
 DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL ON THE ISSUES CONTAINED IN THE PETITIONERS'
 AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES AND COUNTERCLAIM OF USURY.
- II. THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ERR IN ENTERING A FINAL JUDGMENT OF FORECLOSURE IN LIGHT OF THE USURIOUS NATURE OF THE TRANSACTION AND THE CONDUCT OF JACQUELINE KOVITCH BEFORE AND DURING LITIGATION.
- III. THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ERR BY DISMISSING THE PETITIONERS' COUNTERCLAIM WITH PREJUDICE.
- IV. THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ERR IN SETTING THE CASE FOR TRIAL BEFORE THE ENTIRE ACTION WAS AT ISSUE.

I. THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ERR IN STRIKING THE PETITIONERS'
DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL ON THE ISSUES CONTAINED IN THE
PETITIONERS' AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES AND COUNTERCLAIM OF USURY.

For purposes of this Brief, the parties will be referred to as they appeared in the Lower Court. The CERRITOS will be referred to as the Petitioners and the KOVITCHS will be referred to as the Respondents.

The symbol "A" will be used to refer to the Appendix on the Petitioners' Brief on Jurisdiction.

The symbol "R" will refer to the record on appeal in the Lower Court.

At the outset of its decision, the Fourth District Court of Appeal pointed out that the Petitioner had raised "....usury as a counterclaim rather than pleading it as an affirmative defense" (A-1).

The Appellate Court also reaffirmed that usury is a creature of statute and as set forth in a prior holding of the Fourth District Court of Appeal, Moretto vs Sussman, 274, So 2d, 259, 260, (Fla. 4th DCA 1973); "....usury violations are statutorily governed and give rise only to those penalties and relief statutorily contained as provided. Other damages compensatory or punitive are not recognized or permitted".

The Appellate Court further stated:

".....usury in the customary setting is solely an equitable affirmative defense whether alleged in an action at law on the debt or in an equitable action to foreclose on the security for that debt. (Despite the prohibition by modern rules of procedure merging law and equity, distinguishing between the two sometimes aids analysis)".

The Appellate Court reviewed the case law in Florida and reaffirmed the principals cited in <u>Diversified Enterprises</u>, <u>Inc. v West</u>, 141 So 2d 27, 29 (F1. 2nd DCA 1962); <u>Tel. Services</u>

<u>Co. v General Capital Corp</u>. 227 So 2d 667 (F1. 1969); as well as other cases referred to in its opinion in <u>Moretto vs Sussman</u>, supra.

In Florida there appears to be only one opinion which collides with the otherwise established case law of this state and that is the case of <u>Smith vs Barnett Bank of Murray Hill</u>, 350 So 2d 358 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977).

The Fourth District Court of Appeals in the opinion sought to be reviewed herein held that while they agreed with the general rationaleset forth in Smith, they did so, with, "One important and indeed determinative exception". They disagreed that the usury statute creates a cause (right) of action for money damages. The lower Appellate Court further agreed that pronouncements set forth in High Tower vs Bigoney, 156 So 2d 501 (Fla.1963) were correct. That opinion recognized that the filing of a compulsory counterclaim for relief cognizable at law in an action for equitable relief does not waive jury trial on

the counterclaim issues. The Court stated however, that while they had no quarrel with the correctness of that proposition, "its extention to equate the <u>defense</u> of usury with such a 'legal issue' is in our view unjustified". (emphasis supplied).

The <u>Smith</u> Court has held that usury can be pleaded as a <u>counterclaim</u> even though the usury statute and the <u>Rules</u> of <u>Civil Procedure specifically deem it to be an <u>affirmative defense</u>. Therein lies the difference, and that difference was initially considered by the Appellate Court in the very first paragraph of its opinion which states:</u>

"....Appellants raised usury as a counterclaim rather than pleading it as an affirmative defense".

Petitioners have not cited one case in any jurisdiction which has dealt with this problem. Petitioners have instead cited cases involving eviction, tax disputes, as well as other cases in which the governing statute specifically allowed for jury trial.

If the Petitioners position has merit then this Court must declare F.S. 687.04 as unconstitutional in that it violates the right to jury trial. This Court has hertofore determined that the usury statute is constitutional. Acknowledging its constitutionality, the lower Court, as affirmed by the Appellate Court did nothing more than track the language of the statute as well as the governing rules of Civil Procedure in determining that the defense of usury, was just that, a defense, and not a counterclaim and properly struck the counterclaim and the demand for jury trial.

The Respondents do not quarrel with the statement made in

<u>Smith</u> that it is, ".....insignificant to the determinations of counterclaimants' right to a jury trial, that the right of action they assert is created by statute, rather than by common law".

The error of the <u>Smith</u> Court was in determining that a counterclaim was the proper vehicle for determining the usury issue. There are no cases in Florida to support this proposition, nor as stated above, has the Petitioner cited any cases in support of that proposition.

II. THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ERR IN ENTERING A FINAL JUDGMENT OF FORECLOSURE IN LIGHT OF THE USURIOUS NATURE OF THE TRANSACTION AND THE CONDUCT OF JACQUELINE KOVITCH BEFORE AND DURING LITIGATION.

The Petitioners have at all stages of this litigation, that is in the Trial Court, as well as the Appellate Court, contended that the promissory note which was the obligation upon which the mortgage was foreclosed, was usurious on its face. This has never been borne out by the testimony of any witnesses called on behalf of the Petitioners nor from the testimony of the Respondent. As a matter of fact an examination of the promissory note and mortgage, clearly establishes a distinction between the interest sought to be charged against the corporate borrower, the maker of the note, and the individuals, who guaranteed the note, and who in fact mortgaged the subject property. The mortgage, a copy of which was attached to the Respondents' Complaint filed in the Trial Court below, (A-2), clearly shows that the interest contemplated against the mortgagors, was 10% both from the stand point of interest on the obligation and even deferred interest. This Court is respectfully directed to paragraph 3 and 4 of the said mortgage. The interest on the promissory note however, is a different matter. was executed by Ed-Jo Corp., of Florida, Inc., who was first named in the Trial Court proceedings as a Defendant. Thereafter, for purposes best known to the Petitioner, the Corporations interest in the litigation, was abandoned, as reflected by the fact that the Corporation was named as an additional Appellee in the Appellate

proceedings and has been named herein as an additional Respondent in these proceedings. It is interesting that Counsel for the Petitioner herein was in fact Counsel for the Corporate Defendant in the trial proceedings below, but from the date of entry of the Judgment against the Corporate Defendant, has no longer acted in any legal representative capacity as to that adverse party. As stated above, the promissory note executed by the Corporation, was to bear interest at 15% per annum. This was appropriate interest for corporate obligation on the date of the execution of the note in question, 1977. This note is referred to in the mortgage which was attached to the Respondents' initial Complaint and has been filed in the Petitioners' appendix (A-2).

Since Petitioners had made reference in their argument to portions of the transcript taken of the testimony in the Trial Court proceedings, Respondents will also point out the following:

1. The Petitioner, Joan Cerrito, called as an adverse witness in the Trial Court, testified that neither of the Respondent, Jacqueline R. Kovitch, or Louis Kovitch, induced them, or in any way suggested that they form the Corporation, Ed-Jo Corp. She stated that her Husband had told her that the mortgage broker Frank Scaltrito had been the one who suggested the formation of the corporation (R017), (R-284), (R-293-294). The Petitioners further acknowledged during the course of their testimony that they executed numerous documents at the time of closing which were introduced into evidence during the Plaintiffs'case, which were in

their corporate capacity and in effect confirmed and re-confirmed that the transaction in question was going to be a corporate loan secured by a mortgage on their residence. One of those documents was the affidavit signed by the Petitioners at the time that the transaction was closed (R-828).

In the case of Dixon v. Sharp, 276 So2d 817 (Fla. 1973), the matter of usury was reviewed at great lengths in this Court in a well reasoned and oft-cited opinion, Justice Roberts set forth the four requisites of a usurious transaction which are:

- A loan expressed or implied;
- An understanding between the parties
- that the money lent shall be returned; That for such a loan a greater rate of interest than is allowed by law shall be paid or agreed to be paid as the case may be:
- There must exist a Corrupt intent to take more than the legal rate for the use of the money loaned."

The Court went on to recognize that usury is largely a matter of intent, that it is not fully determined by the fact that the lender actually receives more than law permits, but is determined by existence of a Corrupt purpose in the lender's mind to get more than the legal interest for the money lent (page 820 of the opinion).

The Court went on to say that in reviewing the claim of defense of usury, the circumstances surrounding the entire agreement must be proved and then must be carefully scrutinized by the Court. Further, that the requisite intent can not be determined solely from the mathematical consequences of the agreement entered into between the parties. Corrupt intent should be determined from all of the circumstances surrounding the transaction rather than being determined by an inflexible rule which measures the mathematical result.

The Petitioners herein in their brief, have setforth a breakdown of the so called various "disguised" interest charges to establish that the transaction between the parties was tainted They refer to such items as brokerage commission, with usury. title policy, and attorneys fees. As previously argued in the Respondents' Appellate Brief, the Courts of this State have considered each one of these factors and have determined that with the transaction, is in fact an arms length one, that these are not "disguised" interest charges. In the case of Shaffron v. J.E. Holness, 102 So2d 35 (Fla. 2d DCA 1955) the Court held that when the borker is not closely connected with the lender and rather is held to be an agent of the borrower, that fees and commissions paid to that broker are not interest because the lender did not receive the fees nor benefit by their payment. The *testimony at the time of trial, clearly established that the mortgage broker was at all times the Petitioners' agent. The Petitioners went to him long before they met the Respondents, That the said mortgage broker was acting for them in Kovitch. trying to place their loan, and by their execution of their loan application agreement which preceded the transaction, they agreed to pay him a brokerage commission. In the case of Mindlin v. Davis, 74 So2d 789 (Fla. 1954) the Supreme Court in reviewing

the transaction claim to be usurious, considered the matter of attorneys fees and other expenses in determining whether or not the same should constitute additional interest thereby creating usury. The Court in its opinion at page 792 said:

"It is settled in this state that the borrower may legitimately agree with the lender to pay actual reasonable expenses of examining and appraising the security offerred for the loan as well as the cost of closing the transaction, even if such payments when added to the interest contracted for, exceed the maximum interest allowd by law. Pushee v. Johnson, 123 Fla. 305, 166 So. 847, 105 ALR 789. Examining title of the loan security and handling the closing of the loan are services traditionally rendered by attorneys at law and involve an actual expense to the lender which he passes on to the borrower under the rule quoted."

The Court in considering the facts in the <u>Mindlin</u> case concluded that the attorney's participation in the transaction involved in that case went no further than the rendering of a legitimate legal service and that the attorneys fees is legally chargable to the borrower under the general rule of <u>Pushee v. Johnson</u>, 123 Fla. 305, 166 So. 847, 105 ALR 789.

Petitioners herein claim that the services rendered by the Respondents' attorney in the transaction, should not have been charged to the Petitioners and were "disguised" interest. An examination of those services, established that they were no more or less than any other services contemplated in a transaction of this nature and were both actual and reasonable expenses which should be directly atributable to the loan.

Petitioners' contention as to the action the Respondent,

JACQUELINE KOVITCH should have taken, that is to say suit on

the note as opposed to foreclosure, can only be described as specious. The Petitioners themselves as established by their testimony, had a prior record of financial problems, as a result of which they sought out the services of the mortgage broker in order for him to obtain a willing lender to bail them out of their financial troubles. Now Petitioners say to this Court, you should have sued us on the note rather than taken away our home which we the Petitioners gave you as collateral on a corporate obligation, and which corporation was formed not at the request or inducement, or even with knowledge of the Respondents, but rather at the sole whim and caprice of the Petitioners in order to affect a transaction which they now complain of as being usurious. This argument is akin to a child murdering his parents and then throwing himself on the mercy of the Court because he is an orphan.

The Lower Court when presented with all of the evidence and testimony, could have only found one way and that is that the transaction in question was in no way usurious and it was for that reason that the Lower Court gave no consideration or set-off of any of the claims of the Petitioners herein, but on the contrary entered judgment in full and accordance with the foreclosure relief requested by the Respondents. This judgment, has been fully affirmed by the appellate Court below.

III. THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ERR BY DISMISSING THE PETITIONERS' COUNTERCLAIM WITH PREJUDICE.

The Petitioners still contend that they had a valid Counter-claim. As previously argued before the Appellate Court, this Court is respectfully directed to the fact that the only so called "Counter-claim" pending before the Court at the time of final hearing, was the third "Counterclaim" filed by the Petitioners at which time they first named the Respondent, Louis Kovitch as a Third Party Defendant (R-405-406). There was no pending "Counterclaim" by any of the Petitioners below or even the named Respondent herein Ed-Jo Corp., against the Respondent, Jacqueline Kovitch.

The record further establishes however, the Petitioners totally failed to produce any evidence in support of their so called Third Party "Counterclaim" against the Respondent, Louis Kovitch. The relief requested in their "Counterclaim" was a prayer that the promissory note executed by the Petitioner be declared null and void and that a judgment be entered against the Respondent, Louis Kovitch for both compensatory and punitive damages as well as cost and attorneys fees. The sum and substance of that "Counterclaim" appears to be the contention that the Respondent, Louis Kovitch was the real party and interest in the transaction and that the Respondent Jacqueline Kovitch was his alter ego. These are the issues which the Petitioners had to establish before the Court, and which the Court determined they failed to establish, hence their so called Third Party "Counterclaim" was appropriately dismissed with prejudice.

IV. THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ERR IN SETTING THE CASE FOR TRIAL BEFORE THE ENTIRE ACTION WAS AT ISSUE.

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